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	PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

                       Plaintiff,

        vs.
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                       Defendant.
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NOTICE AND MOTION DISCOVERY OF PEACE OFFICER PERSONNEL RECORDS (PITCHESS); POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT THEREOF

DATE:          APRIL 3, 2024
TIME:           8:30 a.m.

DEPT:           V4
EST. TIME:  10 Min.


	
	


TO THE CLERK OF THE SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT, AND TO MICHAEL ELLIS, THE CHIEF OF POLICE OF THE POMONA POLICE DEPARTMENT AND COUNSEL THERETO, AND TO THE SHERIFF OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY AND COUNSEL THERETO, AND TO JASON ANDERSON, DISTRICT ATTORNEY FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on the date and time above or as soon thereafter as the matter may be heard in the above designated department of the above-entitled court, Defendant, EDIN ALEX ENAMORADO, will move for an Order to produce, for inspection and copying, the documents and other items listed in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

Said Motion is made on the ground that the documents sought for inspection contain material evidence relevant to Defendant’s defense to the charges as fully outlined in the declaration in support of the motion and may lead to discovery of additional relevant and material evidence.

Said motion is based on this Notice of Motion, the attached Declaration, the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the records and files within, the officers report attached hereto, and any other oral or documentary evidence as may be presented at the time of the hearing on said motion.








NICHOLAS M. ROSENBERG
Dated: FEBRUARY 27, 2024
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____

NICHOLAS M. ROSENBERG

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT 
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Defendant is charged by way of First Amended Felony Information with the following Counts:

Count One, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 182(a)(1) with a target crime of Penal Code Section 422(a);


Count Two, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 422(a);


Count Three, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 236;


Count Four, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 207(a);


Count Five, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 245(a)(4);


Count Six, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 422(a);


Count Seven, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 22810(g)(1);


Count Eight, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 245(a)(4);


Count Nine, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 236;

Count Ten, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 22810(g)(1);


Count Eleven, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 245(a)(4);


Count Twelve, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 236;


Count Thirteen, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 22810(a);


Count Fourteen, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 29800(a)(1);


Count Fifteen, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 22810(a);


Count Sixteen, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 211;
There are three different alleged victims who each provoked the crowd for incident occurring on September 3, 2023 (John Does One and Two) in Los Angeles County, City of Pomona and then September 24, 2023 (John Doe Three) in the County of San Bernardino, City of Victorville.  There are two lead investigative agencies, the Pomona Police Department and the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department.  Most of the charges arise outside of San Bernardino County but have nonetheless been charged in this First Amended Felony Information.  Attached is a Declaration of Counsel as well as a Declaration of Investigative Journalist Sennett Devermont detailing the officer misconduct in this investigation and preliminary hearing testimony on information and belief. 


Defendant accordingly hereby brings this Motion to Discover Peace Officer Personnel Records.
LEGAL ARGUMENT
1.  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1UPON A PROPER SHOWING BY THE MOVING PARTY, THE COURT IS TO UNDERTAKE AN IN CAMERA EXAMINATION OF A PEACE OFFICER’S PERSONNEL FILE FOLLOWED BY DISCLOSURE OF RELEVANT DOCUMENTS

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1A.  FIRST THE MOVING PARTY SHOULD JUSTIFY THE MATERIALITY, RELEVANCE AND NECESSITY FOR THE DISCLOSURE



 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1The statutory scheme for obtaining confidential peace officer personnel records in civil and criminal cases is contained in Evidence Code sections 1043 through 1047 and Penal Code sections 832.5, 832.7 and 832.8.  (People v. Mooc (2001) 26 Cal.4th 1216, 1226.)  These code sections were enacted to codify the California Supreme Court decision in Pitchess v. Superior Court (1974) 11 Cal.3d 531, which permitted discovery of police officer files on a proper showing of materiality, relevance and necessity, and to curtail record shredding and discovery abuses that allegedly occurred in the wake of the Pitchess decision. (See City of Los Angeles v. Superior Court (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 883, 889.)

a.  THE MOTION MAY BE MADE PRIOR TO THE PRELIMINARY HEARING


A defendant may make a Pitchess Motion prior to preliminary hearing, as there is nothing which limits the discovery to the actual trial, however, whether the pendency and outcome of the motion will constitute good cause to continue the preliminary hearing is left to the discretion of the Magistrate.  (Galindo v. Superior Court (2010) 50 Cal.4th 1, 3)


 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1A law enforcement agency is required to investigate complaints against its officers and retain records of the investigations for at least five years. (Pen. Code, § 832.5, subds. (a), (b).) These records of an internal investigation are considered "confidential" and part of an officer's personnel records. (Pen. Code, §§ 832.7, 832.5, subds. (b), (c).)



 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1The Pitchess statutory scheme recognizes that evidence contained in a law enforcement officer's personnel file may be relevant in a lawsuit, but that the officer "has a strong privacy interest in his or her personnel records and that such records should not be disclosed unnecessarily."  (People v. Mooc, supra, 26 Cal.4th at p. 1227.)  To balance these competing interests, the Legislature "require[d] the intervention of a neutral trial judge, who examines the personnel records in camera ... and orders disclosed to the defendant only those records that are found both relevant and otherwise in compliance with statutory limitations.  In this manner, the Legislature has attempted to protect [a party's] right to a fair trial and the officer's interest in privacy to the fullest extent possible."  (Ibid., see City of San Jose v. Superior Court (1993) 5 Cal.4th 47, 53.)  These statutes apply equally to civil and criminal discovery.  (City of Hemet v. Superior Court (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 1411, 1423-1424.) 



Peace Officer personnel records are defined by Penal Code section 832.8 as:
. . . any file maintained under that individual's name by his or her employing agency and containing records relating to:

(a)
Personal data, including marital status, family members, educational and employment history, or similar information;

(b)
Medical history;

(c)
Election or employee benefits;

(d)
Employment advancement, appraisal, or discipline;

(e)
Complaints, or investigations of complaints, concerning an event or action in which him he participated, or which him he perceived, and pertaining to the manner in which him he performed his duties; or

(f)
Any other information the disclosure of which would constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy.

(Italics added.)

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1B.  GOOD CAUSE FOR AN IN CAMERA REVIEW SHOULD BE A RELAXED STANDARD BASED ON A DECLARATION OF COUNSEL RELAYING A SPECIFIC FACTUAL SCENARIO  FOUNDED ON INFORMATION AND BELIEF


 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Under the statutory scheme, a party seeking discovery of a peace officer's personnel records must follow a two-step process.  (People v. Mooc, supra, 26 Cal.4th at p. 1226.)  First, the party must file a written motion describing the type of records sought, supported by "[a]ffidavits showing good cause for the discovery... , setting forth the materiality thereof to the subject matter involved in the pending litigation and stating upon reasonable belief that the governmental agency identified has the records or information from the records."  (Evid. Code, § 1043(b)(3).)  This initial burden is a "relatively relaxed standard[]."  (City of Santa Cruz v. Municipal Court (1989) 49 Cal.3d 74, 84, emphasis added.)  Information is material if it " 'will facilitate the ascertainment of the facts and a fair trial.' [Citation.]"  (Ibid.; see Brant v. Superior Court (2003) 108 Cal.App.4th 100, 106.)  "[A] declaration by counsel on information and belief is sufficient to state facts to satisfy the 'materiality' component of that section."  (Abatti v. Superior Court (2003) 112 Cal.App.4th 39, 51, emphasis added.)



The requirement of a specific factual scenario to justify an in-camera review of an officer’s personnel file was considered in City of San Jose v. Superior Court (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 1135, 1147.



In City of San Jose, the court denied the Defendant’s Pitchess motion on the grounds that the defendant failed to articulate a specific factual scenario establishing a plausible factual foundation for the three allegations of police misconduct.  (Id. at p. 1146-1147.)  The City of San Jose Court noted that with respect to the allegation that “knowing and voluntary consent to enter was not in fact obtained by the officers,” the declaration did not specify whether the officers coerced Taeleifi into consenting, or whether the officers failed to obtain consent.  (Ibid.) With respect to the allegation that “material representations in the police report and/or court testimony were made in order to conceal the fact that knowing and voluntary consent to enter was not in fact obtained by the officers,” the declaration did not specify which particular statements in the police report contained material misrepresentations nor did he explain in what respect the statements were incorrect.  (Ibid.)  With respect to the allegation that “evidence disclosed during the search was mishandled by the officers to such an extent as to deny defendant a fair trial,” the declaration did not specify which items of evidence were mishandled and how the evidence was mishandled.  (Ibid.)



Here, Defendant has provided a specific factual scenario in the declaration supporting this motion.  In contrast to the factual scenario in City of San Jose that was considered deficient, the Defendant’s factual scenario that is conveyed in paragraph 4 of the declaration of counsel is specific with respect to individual officers and particular conduct that satisfies the relaxed standard Defendant must meet to establish good cause for an in camera review of the documents responsive to this motion.



The California Supreme Court held in Warrick v. Superior Court (2005) 35 Cal. 4th 1011, 1024, that Counsel's affidavit must describe a factual scenario supporting the claimed officer misconduct, however it need not allege a motive for the misconduct.  That factual scenario, depending on the circumstances of the case, may consist of a denial of the facts asserted in the police report.  (Id. at 1024-25.)   The trial court does not determine whether a defendant's version of events, with or without corroborating collateral evidence, is persuasive—a task that in many cases would be tantamount to determining whether the defendant is probably innocent or probably guilty  that a plausible scenario of officer misconduct is one that might or could have occurred.  (Id. at 1026)  Rather the trial court should follow this approach and engage in the following inquiry in deciding whether Defendant has met the relatively low threshold to obtain discovery under Pitchess:
Has the defense shown a logical connection between the charges and the proposed defense? 

Is the defense request for Pitchess discovery factually specific and tailored to support its claim of officer misconduct? 

Will the requested Pitchess discovery support the proposed defense, or is it likely to lead to information that would support the proposed defense? 

Under what theory would the requested information be admissible at trial?

 If defense counsel's affidavit in support of the Pitchess motion adequately responds to these questions, and states “upon reasonable belief that the governmental agency identified has the records or information from the records” (§ 1043, subd. (b)(3)), then the defendant has shown good cause for discovery and in-chambers review of potentially relevant personnel records of the police officer accused of misconduct against the defendant. (Id. at 1027)
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1C.  THE COURT SHALL EXAMINE THE PEACE OFFICER’S PERSONNEL FILE IN CAMERA UPON A GOOD CAUSE FINDING AND THE PROSECUTION HAS MADE A BRADY DISCLOSURE WHICH TRIGGERS THE IN CAMERA HEARING UNDER SERRANO


 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Second, if  "the trial court concludes the defendant has fulfilled these prerequisites and made a showing of good cause, the custodian of records should bring to court all documents 'potentially relevant' to the defendant's motion. ... The trial court 'shall examine the information in chambers' (Evid. Code, § 1045(b)), 'out of the presence and hearing of all persons except the person authorized [to possess the records] and such other persons [the custodian of records] is willing to have present.' ... Subject to statutory exceptions and limitations ... the trial court should then disclose to the defendant 'such information [that] is relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending litigation.' [Citations.]"  (People v. Mooc, supra, 26 Cal.4th at p. 1226; Evid. Code, § 1045(a).)

In this case, the People have made their Brady disclosure which itself is sufficient to trigger an in camera review:    

“When confidential records might contain exculpatory material, the trial court's in camera review of those records, followed by disclosure to the defense of any Brady material that review uncovers, is sufficient to protect the defendant's due process rights.” (Serrano v. Superior Court (2017) 16 Cal.App.5th 759, 777)

The Serrano Court held that:

 The prosecutor's notice to Serrano that Deputy Halloran's personnel file contains potential Brady material, together with counsel's declaration explaining that Halloran is the prosecution's sole witness to many of the events leading to Serrano's arrest, is sufficient to establish his claim that Halloran's file contains potential impeachment evidence that may be material to his defense. Nothing more is required to trigger the trial court's in camera review.


(Id. at 778 )

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1D.  FOLLOWING THE IN CAMERA REVIEW, THE COURT SHOULD ORDER DISCLOSURE OF ALL MATERIALS THAT COULD LEAD TO THE DISCOVERY OF ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE



 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Once a court conducts an in camera hearing, section 1045 governs the documents that may be disclosed. Section 1045 provides "Nothing in this article shall be construed to affect the right of access to records of complaints, or investigations of complaints, or discipline imposed as a result of those investigations, concerning an event or transaction in which the peace officer ... participated, or which he or she perceived, and pertaining to the manner in which he or she performed his or her duties, provided that information is relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending litigation." (Evid. Code, § 1045(a), emphasis added.)  This subdivision is "expansive." (Fletcher v. Superior Court (2002) 100 Cal.App.4th 386, 399.)  Relevant information under section 1045 is not limited to facts that may be admissible at trial, but may include facts that could lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. (See People v. Memro (1985) 38 Cal.3d 658, 681-682; People v. Hustead (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 410, 423.)



 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1These broad rules permitting discovery of complaint and investigation information are qualified by three specific exceptions contained in section 1045(b). Section 1045(b) provides that "[i]n determining relevance, the court shall ... exclude from disclosure: [¶] (1) Information consisting of complaints concerning conduct occurring more than five years before the event or transaction that is the subject of the litigation in aid of which discovery or disclosure is sought. [¶] (2) In any criminal proceeding the conclusions of any officer investigating a complaint filed pursuant to Section 832.5 of the Penal Code. [¶] (3) Facts sought to be disclosed that are so remote as to make disclosure of little or no practical benefit." Additionally, section 1045(c) states that "In determining relevance where the issue in litigation concerns the policies or pattern of conduct of the employing agency, the court shall consider whether the information sought may be obtained from other records maintained by the employing agency in the regular course of agency business which would not necessitate the disclosure of individual personnel records."

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 12.  INTERNAL AFFAIRS INVESTIGATION REPORTS THAT RELATE TO THE SUBJECT OF THE CONTROVERSY SHOULD BE DISCLOSED IN THEIR ENTIRETY, EXCEPT FOR THE CONCLUSIONS OF THE INVESTIGATORS



 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1When internal affairs investigation reports are contained in a peace officer’s personnel file, the Court should not limit their disclosure to the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of the complaining witnesses.  (Haggerty v. Superior Court (2004) 117 Cal. App.4th 1079.)



 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1In Haggerty, after the trial court granted plaintiff’s Pitchess motion and released an internal affairs report that related to the controversy that was the subject of the complaint, the decision was challenged by the custodian of records by petition for writ of mandate.  The appellate court found that, aside from the analysis and conclusions of the investigation, the investigation report was properly ordered to be disclosed to plaintiff.

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1We thus remand the case to the trial court to redact those portions of the Internal Affairs report reflecting solely the investigating officer's " 'conclusions,' " defined to mean the "thought processes of, and factual inferences and deductions drawn by, an officer investigating a complaint, concerning such matters as the credibility of witnesses or the significance, strength, or lack of evidence." (City of San Jose v. Superior Court, supra, 5 Cal.4th at p. 55.)
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1(Haggerty, at p. 1089.)



 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Aside from the conclusions of the investigators, the remaining contents of the investigation report was properly ordered disclosed to plaintiff.  The Court dismissed the custodian’s argument that plaintiff was not entitled to obtain a copy of the report because he did not establish that the disclosure of witness identifying information would be insufficient to permit plaintiff to conduct his own discovery. According to the Court,

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1This argument is unavailing because the trial court specifically found the disclosure of the witness identities would not provide Guindazola with the substance of the relevant information found in the report. This finding was fully supported by the record. The facts gleaned from the internal investigation were directly relevant to the matters at issue in the lawsuit, and at trial Guindazola will have the burden of proof regarding the elements of his claim. Moreover, the requested discovery was important, not only for determining the events that occurred during the incident, but also for Guindazola's counsel to prepare effective cross-examination of defense witnesses, including to impeach witnesses whose testimony at trial differs from statements made to the investigating officers and/or to refresh the recollections of these witnesses. (See People v. Hustead, supra, 74 Cal.App.4th at p. 417; see also People v. Memro, supra, 38 Cal.3d at p. 677 ["one legitimate goal of [Pitchess] discovery is to obtain information 'for possible use to impeach or cross-examine an adverse  witness' "].)

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1(Haggerty, at p. 1089.)  The Court reasoned,
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Because of the direct relevance of the information, the courts have generally recognized that the law enforcement records of the investigation at issue may be discoverable and have never imposed any special limitations on this disclosure if the requested discovery otherwise meets the statutory criteria. (See Robinson v. Superior Court, supra, 76 Cal. App. 3d at p. 978 [" '[a]ll statements made by percipient witnesses and witnesses ...  related to the incident in question' ... are discoverable under the standards set forth in Pitchess," italics added]; see also People v. Alexander (1983) 140 Cal. App. 3d 647, 659, disapproved on another point in People v. Swain (1996) 12 Cal.4th 593.) This is the correct rule as applied to the circumstances here.
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1(Haggerty, at p. 1090-1091.)



Here, Defendant is claiming that internal affairs reports exist that are directly related to the incident that is the subject of the prosecution against Defendant.  Such materials should be disclosed in their entirety except for conclusions of the investigators.
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 13.  PERSONNEL RECORDS THAT ARE RELEVANT TO CHALLENGING THE PEACE OFFICER’S CREDIBILITY SHOULD BE DISCLOSED


 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1In Abatti v. Superior Court (2003) 112 Cal.App.4th 39, the Court was confronted with a Pitchess motion where the defendant was seeking disclosure of any personnel records that would show the peace officer had been dishonest in the past in connection with his law enforcement duties.



 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Defense counsel's declaration in support of the motion, on information and belief, stated that,
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Torres was considered to be a problem officer with the Calexico PD, that he had "deliberately embellished and/or fabricated facts and circumstances surrounding his arrests with the Calexico [PD, and] that none of the other police officers with the Calexico [PD] wanted anything to do with him and that he brought on many problems with [City] as a result of his actions." It was counsel's understanding that Torres was asked to leave the Calexico PD and "given an ultimatum that unless he left he would be either charged with misconduct or would have been fired." It was also counsel's belief that there were grievances and other complaints that had been filed either by fellow police officers or citizens regarding Torres, some of which had been investigated, the results of which were unknown to counsel who did not have access to such information. Based upon his interview with Abatti and his investigator's interview with Torres, counsel further believed that Torres "has embellished and misstated [facts] in his statements to the Attorney General's office regarding [Abatti's conduct and] statements to [him] at the [cycle center]." Counsel, therefore, sought an in camera inspection to determine whether there was any information in Torres's police officer personnel files that showed reports of misconduct or psychological records which would show he may have misstated or fabricated facts on previous occasions.
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1(Id., at p. 59.)



 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Defense counsel, therefore, sought an in camera inspection to determine whether there was any information in Torres's police officer personnel files that showed reports of misconduct or psychological records which would show he may have misstated or fabricated facts on previous occasions.  The request was denied by the trial court.



 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1The Court in Abatti, in reversing the trial court’s ruling, held that the aforementioned declaration established a "plausible factual foundation" for allegations Torres was untruthful in his report of the encounter with Abatti to the police or prosecution, put the court on notice Torres's credibility would likely be an issue at trial, and articulated a valid theory of how the requested information might be admissible, i.e., as impeachment evidence.  The Court held that the defendant met the "relatively low" threshold showing of good cause under Pitchess for an in camera hearing.  (Ibid.)



Here, the factual scenario in counsel’s declaration is specific as to people, activities, and topics in the police reports and should justify the disclosure of any personnel records that could challenge the credibility of the officers.  (See Counsel’s Decl. ¶ 4.) 
4.  DEFENDANT HAS A RIGHT TO RECORDS RELEVANT TO PROVE THE CHARACTER TRAIT AT ISSUE


Records relating to complaints are relevant to prove character traits of the officer and may also be used to impeach and to refresh memory.  (People v. Zamora (1980) 28 Cal.3d 88; Pitchess, supra, at p. 531; Foster v. Superior Court (1980) 107 Cal. App.3d 218, 227; Evidence Code section 1103.)

Material in personnel files and complaints regarding fabrication of evidence or charges, false arrests, illegal search and seizure, improper charging and dishonesty are discoverable where relevant to the charge or defense, as is information regarding evidence of habit or custom evinced by repeated instances of similar conduct.  (Pierre C. v. Superior Court (1984) 159 Cal. App.3d 1120.)  "[E]vidence that the interrogating officers had a custom or habit of obtaining confessions by violence, force, threat, or unlawful aggressive behavior [is] admissible on the issue of whether [a] confession [is] coerced."  (People v. Memro (1985) 38 Cal.3d 658, 681.)

Information relating to prior complaints of excessive force against the arresting officers to "show a propensity on the part of the arresting officer[s] herein to engage in the use of unlawful and excessive force in the execution of the arrest."  (Memro, supra, 38 Cal.3d at p. 681.)

Reputation evidence, opinion evidence and evidence of specific instances of conduct "is admissible to show, inter alia, motive, intent or plan" and therefore discovery is proper when it might lead to such evidence.  (Id. at pp. 681.)

5.  DEFENDANT IS NOT RESTRICTED SOLELY TO INFORMATION REGARDING CITIZEN COMPLAINTS

It is important to note that while the most commonly known "Pitchess material" consists of citizen complaints, it is by no means the sole material discoverable by the defense.  Evidence Code section 1043 sets forth the procedure for obtaining "peace officer personnel records or records maintained pursuant to section 832.5 of the Penal Code or information from these records."  The records maintained under Penal Code section 832.5 are records of citizen complaints.  There is absolutely nothing, either in the statute or case law that limits discovery to complaints.

It is equally apparent that the statute, in calling for a description of the type of records sought to be disclosed, does not require the affiant to prove the existence of particular records.  ". . . an affidavit which describes the information sought as consisting of prior 'complaints of excessive force' by specific officers... has specified... group or 'type' of information within the plain meaning of the statute.  (City of Santa Cruz, supra, 49 Cal.3d at p. 91.)

Particularly in light of Proposition 8, which has eliminated the various restrictions created by the Evidence Code on the types of character evidence that may be admitted, (see People v. Lang (1989) 49 Cal.3d 991; People v. Harris (1989) 47 Cal.3d 1047.)  Anything in the personnel file might lead to evidence of a relevant character trait is discoverable.


6.  DEFENDANT IS ENTITLED TO THE COMPLAINTS THEMSELVES


IF THE NAMES AND ADDRESSES ARE INSUFFICIENT

People v. Matos (1979) 92 Cal. App.3d 862, provides that when the names and addresses of the complainants alone are inadequate, the Defendant has the right to examine the complaints themselves.  See also City of Tulare v. Superior Court (M.C.) (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 373 which provides that the same notice procedures apply to the supplemental motion.
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 17.  WHEN CONDUCTING AN IN CAMERA REVIEW OF THE PERSONNEL FILE, THE COURT HAS A DUTY UNDER BRADY TO DISCLOSE ALL FAVORABLE EVIDENCE


 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Although a criminal defendant does not have a general constitutional right to discovery (Weatherford v. Bursey (1977) 429 U.S. 545, 559), under Brady v. Maryland (1963) 373 U.S. 83, 87, "the prosecution must disclose to the defense any evidence that is 'favorable to the accused' and is 'material' on the issue of either guilt or punishment. Failure to do so[, regardless of the good faith of the prosecution,] violates the accused's constitutional right to due process. [Citation.]"  (City of Los Angeles v. Superior Court (1992) 29 Cal.4th 1, 7.)  Generally, "evidence is 'favorable' if it either helps the defendant or hurts the prosecution, as by impeaching one of its witnesses." (In re Sassounian (1995) 9 Cal.4th 535, 544; Strickler v. Greene (1999) 527 U.S. 263, 280-281.  "Evidence is material under the Brady standard 'if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different.' [Citation.]" (City of Los Angeles, supra, 29 Cal.4th at pp. 7-8.) "A 'reasonable probability' [is] 'a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.' [Citation.]" (United States v. Bagley (1985) 473 U.S. 667, 682; In re Sassounian, supra, 9 Cal.4th at p. 544.)  



 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Although Brady disclosure issues may arise 'in advance of,' 'during,' or 'after trial' [citation], the test is always the same. [Citation.]  Brady materiality is a 'constitutional standard' required to ensure that nondisclosure will not 'result in the denial of defendant's [due process] right to a fair trial.' [Citation.]" (City of Los Angeles, supra, 29 Cal.4th at p. 8; United States v. Sudikoff (1999) 36 F. Supp. 2d 1196, 1200 [Brady requires disclosure of exculpatory information that is either admissible or is reasonably likely to lead to admissible evidence].)



 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Impeachment of a witness can make the difference between acquittal and conviction, especially where credibility is the major issue in a case and evidence at trial will consist of opposing stories presented by the defense and the prosecution witnesses. (See Giglio v. United States (1972) 405 U.S. 150, 154; Napue v. Illinois (1959) 360 U.S. 264, 269; United States v. Kiszewski (2d Cir. 1989) 877 F.2d 210, 216.)



 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1The constitutional duty under Brady requiring the prosecution to disclose exculpatory evidence to a criminal defendant is independent from its statutory duty under Penal Code section 1054.1, subdivision (e), Izazaga v. Superior Court (1991) 54 Cal.3d 356, 378, and applies even without a request by the accused. (United States v. Agurs (1976) 427 U.S. 97, 107.)



 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1The scope of this prosecutorial obligation to disclose "extends beyond the contents of the prosecutor's case file and encompasses the duty to ascertain as well as divulge 'any favorable evidence known to the others acting on the government's behalf ... .' [Citation.] Courts have thus consistently 'decline[d] "to draw a distinction between different agencies under the same government, focusing instead upon the 'prosecution team' which  includes both investigative and prosecutorial personnel." ' [Citation.]" (In re Brown (1998) 17 Cal.4th 873, 879.)  "The prosecution must disclose evidence that is actually or constructively in its possession or accessible to it. [Citation.]  The important determination is whether the person or agency has been 'acting on the government's behalf' [citation] or 'assisting the government's case' [citation]." (People v. Jordan (2003) 108 Cal.App.4th 349, 358 [133 Cal. Rptr. 2d 434] (Jordan).)

CONCLUSION
Defendant submits that he has complied with the requirements under existing law, and has offered a declaration that shows good cause for the discovery in that the requested information is material to the pending litigation and is therefore entitled to discovery of the materials sought.  Defendant respectfully request the Court conduct an in camera review of all personnel records and disclose to the defense all records requested herein and any and all Brady information found in the personnel records.







Respectfully submitted,







NICHOLAS M. ROSENBERG
Dated:
FEBRUARY 27, 2024
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____
NICHOLAS M. ROSENBERG
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT 
EXHIBIT A
1.
Any and all files, folders or other records maintained by the  Pomona Police Department under the name of Detective Travis Johnson (30561) and the San Bernardino County Sheriff under the name of Detective Blake Foyil (G5373) and Detective Alejandro Duran (G4523), and/or the Office of Citizen Complaints or a similar entity under the name of  , which record or reflect any instance of relevant conduct, including but not limited to:  (1) false arrest,  (2) fabrication of charges,  (3) fabrication of evidence,  (4) unreasonable or illegal searches and seizures under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution,  (5) dishonesty, and (6) use of excessive force, or other instances of conduct unbecoming to an officer no matter how named, filed, designated, preserved or catalogued by the Pomona Police Department and the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department or the Office of Citizen Complaints, or such similar entity.

2.
Any and all files as described above that record any complaints submitted by any inmate, fellow officer, or private citizen complaining of any misconduct cited in paragraph 1 above.

3.
The information sought by Defendant in paragraphs 1 and 2 above includes, but is not limited to, the following:

(a)  The names, addresses and telephone numbers of the persons who submitted complaints described in paragraphs 1 and 2 above;

(b)  The names, addresses and telephone number of all persons whether police officers or private witnesses, mentioned as witnesses to the events described in complaints described above;

(c)  A copy of any statements made by complainants and any witnesses who were interviewed in the investigation of the complaints described above;

(d)  A copy of any statement made by police officers interviewed in the investigation of the above described complaints;

(e)  Verbatim copies of all other records, reports, notes and recordings made, and copies of photographs taken in the course of the investigation of said complaints;

(f)  All department records and statements of opinion regarding reputation and other information including, but not limited to, findings, letters, formal reports, and/or records of conversations by superior officers or fellow officers of the Los Angeles County Sheriff personnel listed above pertaining to any actions described in the complaints listed in paragraphs 1 and 2 above;

(g)  All department records, evaluations, chronological logs, and statements of opinion regarding the reputation and other information including, but not limited to, findings, letters, formal reports, and/or records of conversation by superior officers or fellow officers of the Los Angeles Police Department personnel listed above pertaining to any of the character traits set forth above.

4.
The names of all law enforcement agencies the officers have worked for in the past five years.

Defendant further requests that counsel be informed of any instance where the Pomona Police Department and the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department or the District Attorney's Office is aware, through any means whatsoever, that the information contained in the complaints described in paragraphs 1 and 2 above is no longer current, valid or complete. 
PROOF OF SERVICE

(C.C.P. 1011, 1013)

I am, and was at the time of service hereinafter mentioned, over the age of 18 years and not a party to the above-entitled cause.  My business address is 14501 Calvert Street Suite 201A, Van Nuys, CA 91411 and I am employed in Los Angeles County, California.


On the below date, I served the documents described as: NOTICE AND MOTION FOR DISCOVERY OF PEACE OFFICER PERSONNEL RECORDS; POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT THEREOF (People v. Edin Alex Enamorado) on the interested parties in this action, by placing a true copy as indicated below thereof enclosed in sealed envelopes and addressed as follows: 

	POMONA POLICE DEPARTMENT 490 WEST MISSION BOULEVARD POMONA, CA 91766
SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY SHERIFF VICTORVILLE STATION

14200 AMARGOSA ROAD VICTORVILLE, CA 92392

	ASSIGNED DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY JASON WILKERSON
14455 CIVIC CENTER DRIVE # 300 VICTORVILLE, CA 92392

NOTICE ONLY



XX___PERSONAL SERVICE

I delivered such document(s) by hand to the office of the addressee to THE LOS ANGELES COUNTY SHERIFF.

_____BY U.S. or INTER-OFFICE MAIL

I am readily familiar with the business practice of offices for collection and processing of correspondence for mailing with the United States Postal Service and/or inter-office mail; and in the ordinary course of business, mail is deposited in the Untied States Postal Services on the same day it is picked up from my office, at Van Nuys, California, the County in which I am employed, with the postage thereon fully prepaid or, collected and distributed through inter-office mail in accordance with ordinary business practices.

_EMAIL
I transmitted the document(s) on January 24, 2024 addressed to Assigned Deputy District Attorney Teresa Milligan, via email (Notice Only) and to Lauire Douglas at ladougla@lasd.org and to Jesus Romero at jeromero@lasd.org.  A transmission report was issued by sending facsimile machine, and the transmission was reported as complete without error.
__X__ STATE

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the state of California that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on________________________, 2024 at Los Angeles, Los Angeles County, California.
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_________________________
NICHOLAS M. ROSENBERG

Declarant

I, NICHOLAS M. ROSENBERG, do hereby declare the following:

1.  I am an attorney at law licensed to practice in all the state courts of California.

2.  In that capacity, I am the attorney retained to represent the above named Defendant.


3. Defendant is charged by way of First Amended Felony Information with the following Counts:


Count One, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 182(a)(1) with a target crime of Penal Code Section 422(a);


Count Two, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 422(a);


Count Three, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 236;


Count Four, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 207(a);


Count Five, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 245(a)(4);


Count Six, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 422(a);


Count Seven, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 22810(g)(1);


Count Eight, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 245(a)(4);


Count Nine, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 236;


Count Ten, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 22810(g)(1);


Count Eleven, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 245(a)(4);


Count Twelve, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 236;


Count Thirteen, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 22810(a);


Count Fourteen, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 29800(a)(1);


Count Fifteen, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 22810(a);


Count Sixteen, an alleged violation of Penal Code Section 211;
 
I am informed and believe that Pomona Police Department Detective Travis Johnson (30561) and San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department Detective 

Blake Foyil (G5373) and Detective Alejandro Duran (G4523) have engaged in police misconduct in this investigation and testimony during the preliminary hearing after reviewing the attached Declaration of investigative journalist Sennett Devermont which I incorporate into this Declaration of Counsel.

I am informed and believe that the officers deliberately tried to cover up planting informants into the group of demonstrators who include the eight codefendants in this case and others who have not been charged.  

SPECIFIC FACTUAL SCENARIO


I am informed and believe that the three Detectives made false statements during the preliminary hearing in an attempt to keep the investigation open and not disclose their informants and that the use of infiltrators and informants is material to the defenses of entrapment, impeachment and overall integrity of the investigation for these charges which arise out of the Defendants exercising their First Amendment Rights.  This specific factual scenario is not a mere denial of the charges or incident reports and is internally consistent and therefore meets the threshold of the Warrick decision, supra.

4. Declarant is informed and believes that Pomona Police Department Detective Travis Johnson (30561) and the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department Detective Blake Foyil (G5373) and Detective Alejandro Duran (G4523) committed acts of misconduct in the investigation of this case and have a history of misconduct in the form of excessive force, false report writing, fabrication of evidence, planting evidence and that a Pitchess Motion is warranted.
Declarant is thus informed and believes that this Declaration satisfies the requirements of the Warrick decision.  
5.  The information contained in the personnel files of Pomona Police Department Detective Travis Johnson (30561) and the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department Detective Blake Foyil (G5373) and Detective Alejandro Duran (G4523) would be used by the defense to enable it to effectively cross-examine the officer during the trial for impeachment, in that the Defendant herein alleges the officers used excessive force and falsified the report.  
6.  Declarant is informed and based thereon believes and bases upon such information and belief declares from time to time persons who have been arrested and/or detained by Pomona Police Department Detective Travis Johnson (30561) and the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department Detective Blake Foyil (G5373) and Detective Alejandro Duran (G4523) have have made complaints to their police agencies alleging they also been victim’s of excessive force, aggressive conduct, violence, fabrication, falsification, altering, and planting of evidence, or falsification of police reports.

7.  The Pomona Police Department and the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department has in its possession or under its control or has access to any such complaints that may have been made.

8.  The Pomona Police Department and the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department assigns investigators or other personnel to investigate such complaints described in the proceeding paragraphs.  Such investigators or other personnel conduct correspondence with or interview witnesses and other persons and make notes, memorandum and recordings of conversations in connection with their investigations and prepare and file reports, findings, opinions, and conclusions of their investigations.  On occasion, disciplinary proceedings are commenced or taken as a result of such complaints.  Said information includes the names, addresses and telephone numbers of persons interviewed during such investigations and during the disciplinary proceedings commenced or taken as a result of such complaints.  Said files also contain names, addresses and telephone numbers of the persons who initiated the complaints described in paragraph 6 above.

9.  It is necessary that said reports, data and the materials be made available to the Defendant and counsel in order that the case may be properly and adequately prepared for trial.  The records, data and materials, described herein, are material and relevant as to the officers’ credibility and are necessary to establish and tend to establish evidence of the above named officers’ propensity for excessive force, fabrication, and/or falsification of police reports.

10.  The records, data and materials sought to be discovered contain information which includes the names, addresses and telephone numbers and other data which will assist the defense in locating persons who have been interviewed by the investigators conducting investigations into complaints made to the Pomona Police Department and the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department against  Pomona Police Department Detective Travis Johnson (30561) and the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department Detective Blake Foyil (G5373) and Detective Alejandro Duran (G4523).
11.  The items requested may also contain information showing disciplinary actions and suspensions of Pomona Police Department Detective Travis Johnson (30561) and the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department Detective Blake Foyil (G5373) and Detective Alejandro Duran (G4523) following review of said complaints by superior officers, statements of witnesses interviewed during said investigations, and opinions of superior officers and fellow officers concerning the propensity of Pomona Police Department Detective Travis Johnson (30561) and the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department Detective Blake Foyil (G5373) and Detective Alejandro Duran (G4523)for engaging in misrepresentations, omissions, falsification of reports and/or testimony.
12.  The information described in the preceding paragraphs would be used by the defense to locate witnesses to testify to the effect that Pomona Police Department Detective Travis Johnson (30561) and the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department Detective Blake Foyil (G5373) and Detective Alejandro Duran (G4523) have character traits, habits, and customs for engaging in unlawful acts and false reporting of events.
13.  Such information would also be used by the defense to enable it to effectively cross-examine said officer at trial and for impeachment, where appropriate.  Additionally, such information would lead the defense to the discovery of other admissible evidence.

14.  The records sought that are kept by the Los Angeles County Sheriff, while maintained by a public agency, are nevertheless confidential by law and defendant does not have access to such records other than through a court order that is being sought by the motion this declaration is in support of.
I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct, except as to those matters which are alleged on information and belief and as to those matters I am informed and I believe them to be true.  
Executed on FEBRUARY 27, 2024, at Los Angeles, California.
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___________________________________

NICHOLAS M. ROSENBERG
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT 
DECLARATION OF SENNETT DEVERMONT

I, Sennett Devermont, state and declare on information and belief, as follows:

1. I am an investigative journalist with first-hand knowledge regarding the case of PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA v. EDIN ALEX ENAMORADO and the other 7 defendants pertaining to this case. I sat inside the Victorville courtroom for all preliminary hearings when all witnesses testified and were cross examined.

2. In the testimony and cross examination of Detective Travis Johnson, Detective Blake Foyil, and Detective Alejandro Duran (the lead Detectives) it was clearly stated that in the case of “conspiracy” there were no informants or people working with the police.

3. I believe there are two individuals who are partners and live together, whom  I will refer to herein as Karen and Kyle to protect their identity because I believe they are actively working with the police, that first appear according to videos I have seen on 9/12/2023.

4. Karen and Kyle are confirmed by video to have shown up to at least a dozen demonstrations in a 90-day range (sometimes showing up first) where they mostly seem to stay to themselves while Kyle would film and live stream to an audience sharing information he would later screenshot into the “GROUP DM”. The live streams Kyle made all seem to disappear when they end. Many people confirmed they were told by Karen and Kyle to not film them and would intentionally attempt to stay out of the cameras view. Kyle is often seen wearing accessories to cover his face.

5. Karen and Kyle both made several racial epithets towards white people specifically verbally and in writing. Karen wrote in the “GROUP DM”, “Kyle says if her white community friends show up we are letting them have it!” Kyle wrote in the “GROUP DM”, “I don’t shake hands with no fucking cop or white person.” Karen and Kyle used various obscenities toward people and police in person at demonstrations.

6. Karen and Kyle were regularly sharing the following types of information in a “GROUP DM”; names, pictures, addresses, social media accounts, phone numbers, employment history, relatives names and info among other details of others to people in the group chat without being provoked or asked. Because these two would consistently be a fast source of personally identifying information that wasn’t even being asked for, I believe they intended to incite, entice, and entrap people in the “GROUP DM” to take actions that later would result in arrests of several defendants in this case. Many people openly joked and asked about Karen and Kyle saying the following, “What are you guys FBI?”, or “How do you get the info so fast?  you guys are so quick together”. Kyle shared screenshots that Mayor Acquanetta Warren was viewing his social media posts. Kyle made statements like, “Give us the names and a possible city for these people. We got you.”.

7. On a reverse look up of the phone Karen was using to communicate with people goes to the name Alexander Duran and registered out of Victorville, San Bernardino County. When I asked why that would be, Karen then made 3 different statements that conflict with one another which was; she got a new phone a few months ago, to a year ago, to 2 years ago. Since Karen was asked, both her and Kyle have since changed or deleted their social media profiles and have gone radio silent from a majority of people that they were once interacting with regularly.

THESE ARE THE FOLLOWING INCIDENTS THAT TOOK PLACE IN CHRONOLOGICAL ORDER BASED ON INFORMATION AND BELIEF:
1. 9/9/2023 a “GROUP DM” was made (Karen or Kyle were not included at this time) by Edin Alex Enamorado to get people together for a surprise birthday party for his partner, Wendy Luhan. The chat discusses what is needed regarding decorations, cake, gifts, etc.

2. 9/12/2023 Upland demonstration, Karen and Kyle are present.

3. 9/14/2023 Santa Ana demonstration, Karen and Kyle are present.

4.  9/24/2023 demonstration leads to Mr. Carwash incident with John Doe 3, Karen and Kyle are present. Karen is seen by several people, (also confirmed by video) of Karen using her water bottle to spray water from on John Doe 3 which makes contact with his face and gray t shirt. Several people were arrested including defendants Wendy Luhan and David Chavez. Neither Karen or Kyle are arrested.

5. 9/26/2023 Upland City Council meeting, Karen and Kyle are present.

6. 9/27/2023 San Bernardino Sheriff Detective Alejandro Duran who is one of the lead detectives in the multi-agency case joins the “conspiracy” investigation claims the defendants were using group chats and technology to DOX people whereas information came from Karen and Kyle.

7. 9/30/2023 Anaheim demonstration, Karen and Kyle are present.

8. 10/02/2023 Riverside demonstration, Karen and Kyle are present.

9. 10/7/2023 Alameda buyout, Karen and Kyle are present.

10. 10/19/2023 Baldwin Park demonstration, Karen and Kyle are present and first ones there. People wonder how that’s possible and who Karen and Kyle are because they were not in “GROUP DM” at that point. 

11. 10/23/2023 - Karen and Kyle enter the “GROUP DM” and within 24 hours they share Fontana Mayor Acquanetta’s home addresses, pictures, and information. (Mayor Acquanetta is part of the discovery in this case.)
12. 10/24/2023 Several people go to the Fontana city council meeting, Karen and Kyle are present. From there Kyle said he would go to a different address he found for Mayor Acquanetta and encouraged others to go to 14222 address which he also located as Mayor Acquanettas home. Police were waiting at the 14222 address when Edin Alex Enamorado and others arrived. Edin Alex Enamorado and Lorenzo were both arrested in front of 14222 Acquanetta’s house. The 14222 address was being broadcasted on Kyle’s Instagram Feed where people were commenting other addresses.

13. 10/27 Mayor Acquanetta of Fontana files a “petition to prevent workplace violence” which is denied by the court the same day.

14. 11/14/2023 at around 7pm Kyle shares the Mayor of Fontana address in the “GROUP DM”.

15. 11/15/2023 -Fontana City Council meeting - Edin Alex Enamorado, Stephanie Amesquita and Vanessa Carrasco get arrested. Kyle and Karen are both present. 

16. 11/17/2023 Fontana City Council meeting with Kyle and Karen were present.

17. 11/20/2023 Tustin City demonstration, Kyle and Karen were present.
18. 11/25/2023 East Los Angeles demonstration, Kyle and Karen were present.
19. 12/03/2023 Riverside demonstration, Kyle and Karen were present with 2 children

20. 12/10/2023 Apple Valley demonstration, Edin Alex Enamorado was detained and Kyle and Karen were present.

21. 12/14/2023 8 of the defendants were raided between 3 am to 4 am. 

Therefore I am informed and believe that Kyle and Karen are Police infiltrators and informants and that all 3 detectives named above in this case lied under oath.

On February 2, 2024, I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the state of California that the forgoing is true except as to those matters on information and belief, and as to those matters I am informed of them and believe them.
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Sennett Devermont 

2/28/2024
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MOTION FOR DISCOVERY OF PEACE OFFICER PERSONNEL RECORDS


